

NAZARENE CHRISTIAN ACADEMY

2025-2026

Elementary/Secondary Student Handbook

Celebrating 41 years of God's Faithfulness

The board and administration of Nazarene Christian Academy reserve the right to change any policy herein at any time at the school's sole discretion should it be determined that such changes are in the best interest of the school. Changes will be communicated to affected groups and individuals.

Table of Contents

Philosophy, Beliefs, and Mission	4
The Philosophy of the Nazarene Christian Academy	
NCA Mission Statement	
NCA Motto	
NCA Core Values	
Statement of Faith	5
Faith	
Marriage, Gender, and Sexuality	
Final Authority for Matters of Belief and Conduct	
Sanctity of Human Life	
Expectation of NCA Families	
Non-Discriminatory Policy	7
NCA Image Policy	7
Admissions Requirements	7
Admissions Criteria	
Admissions Procedures	
Attendance Policy	8
Attendance, Absences, and Tardiness	
College Visits, Exams, and Exemptions	
Tardy Policy	
Make-Up Work	
Code of Christian Conduct	11
Discipline Management Program	
Search and Seizure Policy and Procedure	
Drug Testing Policy	
Rules of Behavior	
Disciplinary and Dismissal Procedures	16
Positive Incentives and Rewards	
Classroom Behavioral Management	
Administrative Behavioral Management	

Extracurricular Programs	19
Athletics	
Athletic Eligibility	
Athletic Participation Parent Volunteer Requirement	
Sports Fees	
Elective Classes and Programs	
Percussion	
Theater	
Choir	
Art	
Elective Classes	
Elementary Music	
Academics	22
Grading Scale	
Transcripts	
Dual Enrollment Classes	
Other Academic Requirements	
Bible Study and Devotional Time	
Field Trips	
	• 4
Annual Achievement Tests	24
Graduation Requirements	24
Selection of Honor Graduates	
National Honor Society/National Junior Honor Society	25
National Honor Society Membership	
National Junior Honor Society Membership	
Nazarene Christian Academy Student Council	
·	26
Transportation and Campus Access	26
Student Driving Policy	
Closed Campus	
Student Arrival and Pick-Up Forly Paleose Students	
Early Release Students	
School Dismissal	
Visitors A fram Salagal A attivities	
After School Activities	20
Miscellaneous	28

School Parties	
Library	
Lost and Found	
Damage to Personal Property	
Medication	
Immunization Requirements	
Parent Teacher Fellowship (PTF)	
Student Insurance	
School Office/Visitor Information	
Weather Policies and School Closings	
Financial Policies/ Tuition	33
Textbooks and Fees	
Hot Lunch Program	
Annual Fund – Tax Deductible Gifts	
Appendix I - Matthew 18 Principle - Guidelines for Problem Solving	36
Appendix II - Copy of Honor Pledge	37
Appendix III - Steps to Admission	38
Appendix IV - Dress Code Policy	40
Appendix V - Cell Phone Policy	43
Appendix VI - Driving Policy	44
Appendix VII - Harassment Policy	45
Appendix VIII - Extracurricular Fees	46
Appendix IX - Management of Communicable Disease Policy	47
Appendix X - Field Trip Policy	48
Appendix XI - Homework Guidelines	49
Appendix XII - School Parties Policy	50
Appendix XIII - Drug and Alcohol Policy	51

Philosophy, Beliefs, and Mission

The Philosophy of the Nazarene Christian Academy

The philosophy of Nazarene Christian Academy (NCA) is one that believes that children are a heritage of the Lord and parents are ultimately responsible for their academic and spiritual education. One of the most critical Biblical decisions a parent must make concerns the education of his/her child. A Christian school is an extension of your home and your church. Because of these beliefs, Generations Church offers this program and its facilities as a ministry giving children the opportunity to pursue a challenging curriculum in a Christian atmosphere.

Our basic purpose at NCA is to provide the best quality education which builds and encourages faith in God. NCA believes that children taught in full accord with the Bible's principles have a foundation upon which to successfully build a future that can benefit God, country, and mankind.

NCA is here to work with the home and church, not take the place of the home and church. Therefore, we require cooperation with school rules, regulations, and procedures for the benefit of the child and his/her training. We wish to work closely with you, the parents, in training the child. Consequently we remind parents that we are not a corrective institution.

The goal of the school is to train Christian youth in the highest principles of Christian leadership, self-discipline, individual responsibility, personal integrity and good citizenship. NCA stands without apology for the Gospel of Jesus Christ, without any denominational emphasis and for the highest standards of morality and Christian behavior. We endeavor to join with you to impart a Christian heritage by emphasizing respect and obedience to parents and teachers, love for God, and honor and respect for our country. We pledge to you that our dedication and abilities will be used to the utmost to help each child.

NCA Mission Statement

Nazarene Christian Academy, partnering with like-minded families, offers a Christ-centered education equipping students for a life of service that glorifies God and eternally impacts the world.

NCA Motto

Educating for Today and Eternity

NCA Core Values

Biblical Philosophy - A biblical philosophy of education will be implemented at NCA. The biblical integration of every planned learning experience is crucial at NCA.

Bible As A Core Subject - The teaching of the Bible as a core textbook is essential to the academic curriculum.

Parent Education & Responsibility - Parents have the primary responsibility for the education of their children. NCA is committed to serve the Christian home.

Great Commission - Students and educators at NCA will be involved in fulfilling the Great Commission.

Problem Solving - NCA is committed to following Biblical principles for problem solving and conflict resolution and will follow the Matthew principle. See Appendix I - The Matthew 18 Principle: Guidelines for Problem Solving.

Academic Excellence - NCA is committed to academic excellence, maximizing each student's potential. All of our students graduate with the highest academic plan offered for graduates in the state of Texas.

Critical Thinking - NCA students will learn how to process information and think critically in the context of a biblical worldview.

Non-Discrimination - The teaching/learning process at NCA will reflect a Christ-like sensitivity to a diverse school community.

School Improvement - NCA will be involved in a plan of consistent evaluation, accreditation, and assessment for continuous improvement.

Professional Development - Professional resources and training will be utilized for the development and growth of the Christian educators at NCA. All of our teachers hold college degrees and participate in certification through the state of Texas or the Association of Christian Schools International. (ACSI)

Networking - The ministry of NCA will best be accomplished through cooperation with other appropriate individuals, agencies, and organizations which provide programs, materials and services to similar Christian schools.

Educational Choice - NCA is committed to the principle that the opportunity for Christian schooling should be accessible to families as a means of evangelizing, nurturing, and discipling students for a life of service to God and society.

Statement of Faith

The Nazarene Christian Academy Statement of Faith includes statements regarding Faith; Marriage, Gender and Sexuality; Final Authority for Matters of Faith and Conduct; and Sanctity of Human Life.

Faith

- 1. We believe the Bible to be the inspired, only infallible, authoritative, inerrant Word of God (II Timothy 3:15) and it is eternally reliable in all matters of Christian faith and practice.
- 2. We believe there is one God, eternally existent in three persons--Father, Son, and Holy Spirit (Genesis 1:1; Matthew 28:19; John 10:30).
- 3. We believe in the deity of Christ (John 10:33), His virgin birth (Isaiah 7:14; Matthew 1:23; Luke 1:35), His sinless life (Hebrews 4:15; Hebrews 7:26), His miracles (John 2:11), His vicarious and atoning death (I Corinthians 15:3; Ephesians 1:7; Hebrews 2:9), His resurrection (John 11:25; I Corinthians 15:4), His ascension to the right hand of the Father (Mark 16:19) and His personal return in power and glory (Acts 1:11; Revelation 19:11).

- 4. We believe that salvation is by grace, through faith in our Lord Jesus Christ. We believe that repentance from personal sin toward God, faith in our Lord Jesus Christ, and regeneration by the Holy Spirit is necessary to salvation (John 3:16-21; John 5:24; Romans 3:23, 5:8-9; Ephesians 2:8-10; Titus 3:5).
- 5. We believe in the resurrection of both the saved and the lost, those who are saved to the resurrection of life and those who are lost to eternal punishment (John 5:28-29).
- 6. We believe in the spiritual unity of believers in our Lord Jesus Christ (Romans 8:9; I Corinthians 12:12-13; Galatians 3:26-28).
- 7. We believe in the present ministry of the Holy Spirit by whose indwelling the Christian is enabled to live a godly life (Romans 8:13-14; I Corinthians 3:16, 6:19-20; Ephesians 4:30, 5:18).

Marriage, Gender, and Sexuality

- 1. We believe that God wonderfully and unmistakably creates each person as male or female. These two distinct, complementary genders together reflect the image and nature of God (Genesis 1:26-27).
- 2. We believe that the term "marriage" has only one meaning: the uniting of one man and one woman in a single, exclusive union, as delineated in Scripture (Genesis 2:18-25). We believe that God intends sexual intimacy to occur only between a man and a woman who are married to each other (I Corinthians 6:18, 7:2-5; Hebrews 13:4). We believe that God has commanded that no intimate sexual activity be engaged in outside of a marriage between a man and a woman.
- 3. We believe that any form of sexual immorality is sinful and offensive to God (Matthew 15:18-20; I Corinthians 6:9-10).
- 4. We believe that in order to preserve the function and integrity of Nazarene Christian Academy and to provide a biblical role model to the Nazarene Christian Academy members and the community, it is imperative that all persons employed by Nazarene Christian Academy in any capacity, or who serve as volunteers, understand this Statement of Marriage, Gender, and Sexuality (Matthew 5:16; Philippians 2:14-16; I Thessalonians 5:22).
- 5. We believe that God offers redemption and restoration to all who confess and forsake their sin, seeking His mercy and forgiveness through Jesus Christ (Acts 3:19-21; Romans 10:9-10; I Corinthians 6:9-11).
- 6. We believe that every person must be afforded compassion, love, kindness, respect, and dignity (Mark 12:28-31; Luke 6:31). Hateful and harassing behavior or attitudes directed toward any individual are to be repudiated and are not in accord with Scriptures nor the doctrines of Nazarene Christian Academy.

Final Authority for Matters of Belief and Conduct

The statement of faith does not exhaust the extent of our beliefs. The Bible itself, as the inspired and infallible Word of God that speaks with final authority concerning truth, morality, and the proper conduct of mankind, is the sole and final source of all that we believe. For purposes of NCA's faith, doctrine, practice, policy, and discipline, our school board is NCA's final interpretive authority on the Bible's meaning and application.

Sanctity of Human Life

We believe that all human life is sacred and created by God in His image. Human life is of inestimable worth in all its dimensions, including pre-born babies, the aged, the physically or mentally challenged, and every other stage or condition from conception through natural death. We are therefore called to defend, protect, and value all human life (Psalm 139).

Expectation of NCA Families (Updated July 2025)

All parents and students are expected to speak respectfully about Nazarene Christian Academy (NCA), its leadership, staff, and affiliated ministries both publicly and privately. Negative speech, whether in person, in writing, or on social media, that is harmful to the reputation or unity of NCA will not be tolerated. Failure to comply may result in disciplinary action, including potential dismissal from NCA.

Additionally, all families are expected to represent NCA with integrity at home and away games. Foul language, rude comments, or disrespectful behavior from any family member will not be tolerated. Violations may result in removal from the event and/or future restrictions on attendance.

Non-Discriminatory Policy

Nazarene Christian Academy admits students of any race, color, religion, national and ethnic origin to all the rights and privileges, programs and activities generally accorded or made available to the students at the school. It does not discriminate on this basis in administration of its educational policies, scholarship programs, athletic and other school-administered programs.

NCA Image Policy

Attendance at Nazarene Christian Academy grants Nazarene Christian Academy and/or its agents permission to take photographs and/or videos of participants and utilize event media in all forms—including but not limited to the school's website, social media, printed materials, and promotional content—for marketing, promotion, and future event development.

If you wish to opt out, please indicate your preference in FACTS during (re)enrollment and notify the school office in writing.

Admissions Requirements

Admissions Criteria

Age Requirements

- Kindergarten Must be 5 years old on or before the 1st of September of the year admitted.
- 1st Grade Must be 6 years old by September 1st and must have completed Kindergarten.
- Juniors Must enroll by the first day of their junior year in order to be eligible for consideration in Valedictorian and Salutatorian status.

• Seniors - May enroll during their senior year. However, enrollment is considered on a case-by-case basis due to graduation plan requirements. They will not be eligible for top 10% ranking graduation status.

Academic Requirements

• All prospective Kindergarten Students are required to participate in a readiness screening (K.I.D.S. = Kindergarten Inventory of Developmental Skills). In addition, all prospective students must demonstrate their readiness to function at the grade level for which they are applying. A diagnostic test, the most recent report card and standardized test results, if applicable, from their previous school will be required.

Additional Requirements

- All new students will be on academic, attendance, and behavior probation for a period of one semester.
- No student will be allowed to attend class until his/her file is complete, including up-to-date shot records.

Any student may be dismissed from NCA at any time for any reason.

Admissions Procedures

Nazarene Christian Academy stands ready to partner with families in their child's education. We encourage families to schedule a tour or arrange for your child to visit a classroom at your convenience. Additionally, applications and enrollment information are available online year-round. Updated enrollment information is available each February for the following school year. Online applications are accepted at any time. February is NCA's re-enrollment month for current students next school year. After students have completed the Steps to Admissions, they are eligible to participate in our spring and summer athletic programs.

Detailed admissions guidelines are provided in Appendix III - Steps to Admissions.

Attendance Policy

Attendance, Absences, and Tardiness

School Hours

```
Kindergarten 8:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.

1<sup>st</sup> – 5<sup>th</sup> grade 8:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.

6<sup>th</sup> —12<sup>th</sup> grade 8:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m.
```

*Additional Instructional time as needed (tutoring/remediation): Zero Hour 7:30-8:00 or 3:30-4:00 (Updated July 2025)

Half-Day Absence or Period Absences -

- Students missing the greater portion of the morning session will receive a half-day absence (arriving after 9:30 am).
- Students missing the greater portion of the afternoon session will receive a half-day absence (leaving before 1:30 pm).
- Secondary students missing 20 minutes or more of a class will receive an absence for that period.

Attendance Importance – Students are expected to be <u>punctual and regular in attendance</u>. NCA, per State Education Code # 25.092, allows <u>a maximum of 9 days of absences per semester</u>. This includes absences that are excused and/or unexcused. Excessive absences will result in a school appointed committee determining if the student

has an automatic failure or if a plan can be formed to make up the days missed. Decisions will be made on a case-by-case basis considering factors such as the number of absences, extenuating circumstances, amount and quality of work made-up, achievement test performance, etc. All decisions will be approved by the NCA Administrator.

Absence Notification – If a student must be absent, the parent is to contact the school before 9 a.m. on the first day of absence with the reason for the absence. The parent can call or email to absent@nca-lions.org (from the website https://www.nazarenechristianacademy.org - under current students – absentee alert) The absence will be considered unexcused until the parent contacts the school with reason for absence.

Excused – Absences are excused for the following reasons: illness, death in the family, medical appointments (which cannot be made outside of school hours), dire emergencies, or other reasons accepted or approved in advance by the administration. The absence will count toward the maximum allowable absences, and work does need to be made up.

Unexcused – Any class or assignment missed for an unexcused reason will result in a grade of "0," and count toward the maximum allowable absences. The administration will decide as to whether the student will be allowed to make-up the missed work.

Return to School – When a student has been absent, they must bring a parent note or doctor's excuse to the security desk or school office. Otherwise, doctor's notes, college visit forms, and other absence-related documentation may be emailed to absent@nca-lions.org. The absence will be considered unexcused until the required documentation is submitted.

Illness – Returning students must be on antibiotics and/or free of fever, vomiting, or diarrhea for 24 hours before returning to school. (See Appendix IX - Communicable Disease Policy). A doctor's note is required when a student is absent for more than two consecutive days.

Doctor's Note – If a student misses three days in a row then a doctor's note will be required to excuse the absences. If a doctor's note is not submitted within a timely manner, the absences will remain unexcused. Contact the school nurse for extenuating circumstances.

Pre-approved Absence form can be found on the NCA website under Student > NCA Absentee Alert. https://www.nazarenechristianacademy.org/nca-absentee-alert

Parents are to complete the form if their child will be out at any point during the school day. Class assignments will be due on the first day a student returns to school. With the exception of college visits, these types of absences are counted toward the maximum allowable absences. NCA respectfully asks families to avoid taking vacations during the school year.

Extended Absences - If a student is/will be absent two consecutive weeks or more for illness, the family must arrange for a private tutor or a homebound teacher. Notify the school nurse.

Attendance Offenses – The NCA Administrator or a designee will communicate with students, parents, and juvenile authorities as appropriate per State Legal Code.

College Visits, Exams, and Exemptions

College Visits – Seniors will be allowed up to 5 days to visit the college of their choice and juniors are allowed up to 3 days. Students must fill out a pre-approval form via the website prior to the absence or an unexcused absence will

be recorded. Students must bring back proof of attendance from the university in order for the absence to not count towards the maximum allowable absences and exemptions. Students must meet academic eligibility requirements to be eligible to use these days.

Final Exams - are administered on the last five days of both semesters for students in 6th-12th grade. Pre-arranged absences are strongly discouraged during Midterm and Final Exam week. Pre-approved absences will only be approved for extenuating circumstances. Family vacations are not considered extenuating circumstances. It is extremely important for all students to be in school during the exam weeks. If the student is ill, a doctor's note stating the reason for illness will be required. Rescheduling of any final exams is a difficult task due to our school calendar. If rescheduling exams requires NCA personnel to work extended hours for either administering, grading, or preparing additional documents, a fee of \$25 per hour will be charged.

High School Exam Exemptions - In order for high school students to be exempt from semester and final exams they must have at least a 90 for the semester average and missed no more than 3 days of school (including excused and unexcused absences). This will also include 8th grade students taking high school classes for credit. All exempted students must complete exam review assignments due to the educational benefit of reviewing the semester. Students who qualify for an exam exemption have the option of not taking the exam. If they would like to take the exam to improve their numerical average in a subject, they are welcome to make arrangements to take the exam. Administration reserves the right to consider exceptions for any extenuating circumstances, such as the death of a family member, extreme medical situations, etc.

Note: Four tardies, cumulative per semester, are counted as one absence and will add to the exam exemption consideration.

*Also, any discipline suspension disqualifies exemptions. (Updated June 2025)

Tardy Policy

The tardy bell for K-12th grade is at 8:00 a.m. <u>Students in Kindergarten through 5th grade</u> will be assigned an unexcused absence for each set of six tardies accumulated. Elementary students, after the 6th tardy, will be required to make up time in after school Lion Time sessions. <u>Students 6th grade through 12th grade</u> are only allowed three tardies without penalty in a nine-week period per class. On the 4th tardy, they will receive an unexcused absence and after school detention including appropriate fees. <u>Unexcused absences for tardiness are counted toward the maximum allowable absences for the semester and are factored into high school exam exemption determinations.</u>

Make-Up Work

Parents for elementary-age students are responsible to contact the teachers for scheduling of any make-up work, tests, or quizzes. Students for Middle School/High School are responsible themselves to contact the teachers for scheduling of any make-up work, tests, or quizzes.

The student has one day to make-up work for each missed day. The work must be made up in the sequence that it was missed. If a student is absent only one day then assignments will be given to the student the following day. If the student is out for more than one day then the parent should contact the office before 9 am and make arrangements to pick up the student's work after 3:00 pm.

If the student is absent on the day of a pre-assigned major project or term paper, the pre-assigned projects and/or term paper must be turned in by 10:00 am on the day it is due, or a penalty will be applied. This includes ACSI event requirements, research papers, or any class project in which the students were given extended time to complete.

If a student is absent on the day of a quiz or test, the student may be required to take the test upon return when appropriate or expected to reschedule a test or quiz date with the teacher as soon as they return to school. All homework assignments that were due on the date of the absence are expected to be turned in immediately.

On Pre-Approved Absences, where work is given in advance, the assignments are due on the first day the student returns. If assignments are turned in later than the first day, the work will be considered late.

Work, including class assignments, homework, quizzes or tests, missed as a result of an unexcused absence cannot be made up and a grade of "0" (zero) will be given unless the absence was due to extenuating circumstances and qualify for administrative consideration.

Students attending academic competitions will be required to make up quizzes and tests either prior to leaving or within one day of returning. All athletes are held to the same grading policy timeline as non-athletes. Sporting events are not considered absences; therefore, the absence policy for missed work does not apply.

Late Work Policy for grades 5th through 12th:

- All work is due on the date assigned at the beginning of class
- Work that is turned in within one day late (24 hours) will be assigned a maximum of 70% as the highest grade a student can earn.
- Work turned in two days late will receive a maximum of 50%
- Work turned in three days or more late will receive a zero
- Administrative discretion will be used on any extenuating circumstances

Code of Christian Conduct

Christ-honoring behavior, grounded in our Statement of Faith, is expected of each Nazarene Christian Academy student. To support this behavior, biblical teaching and training is integrated into all the activities of the school. The following Discipline Management Program, Rules of Behavior, and Honor Pledge reflect the Code of Christian Conduct. NCA has the right to discipline or ask a student to withdraw for any reason. NCA reserves the right to discipline or request the withdrawal of a student for any violation of school policies, conduct expectations, or circumstances deemed detrimental to the well-being of the student or the school community. Failure to comply with expected standards of conduct will subject the student to potential disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal from NCA.

Discipline Management Program

The goal of NCA is to train each student to be self-disciplined, respectful, and responsible. Discipline will focus on three areas of each student's life: attitudes, words, and actions. Parents will be informed, as needed, for assistance concerning discipline problems. NCA staff will always be available if parents have concerns or questions.

In order to ensure spiritual and educational benefits for all students, every student will be required to follow all NCA rules and regulations. Students are subject to the authority of ALL staff members at ANY time on the school grounds

during the school day or any school function. Students will be courteous and respectful to teachers, aides, secretaries, and visitors at all times. These rules apply to conduct on the school premises, in situations involving school property, at school-related activities, school functions of any kind, and off school premises when directly affecting other students or the school.

Honorable behavior is expected of each NCA student. If discipline problems persist in spite of the positive rewards system, the Academy has chosen to implement the steps of discipline management.

Parents will be required to read the student handbook and discuss the rules for the school and the discipline policy with their child prior to applying or re-enrolling at NCA. If the parent does not agree with school policy, we will not be able to accept the registration of their child.

The NCA discipline policy is to preserve order and maintain a climate conducive to learning. It is the right of every student to have the opportunity to learn. The teacher also has the right to teach free of disruption. Student misconduct that disregards this right will not be tolerated.

To this end, all school officials have authority to take prompt, appropriate, and effective action to abate any disruption of the educational process, to protect the health, safety, and welfare of all, and to administer appropriate punishment for wrongdoing.

Search and Seizure Policy and Procedures Statement

To maintain order and discipline on school property and at school-related events and to protect the safety and welfare of students and school personnel, Nazarene Christian Academy has the right to perform unannounced searches and to seize contraband, and has the right to perform physical searches of students to determine whether they pose a danger to themselves and/or others. A principal and authorized staff members may search a student's pockets, purse, backpack, gym bag, or other personal property; student lockers, desks, or other school property; or student automobiles under the conditions described below.

No student may possess any illegal substance, object, or contraband that constitutes a threat to the health, safety, or welfare of any person or persons on school property. Contraband is all substances or materials prohibited by school policy or state or federal law, including but not limited to controlled substances, drugs, alcoholic beverages, cigarettes, vapes, juuls, tobacco, guns, knives, weapons, or incendiary devices. All items deemed to be illegal, illicit, disruptive, or a general nuisance to the educational process may be seized by staff. Storage, return, or destruction of such items shall be at the discretion of the School Administrator or their designated agent, subject to legal impoundment. To maintain overall school safety and security, Nazarene Christian Academy has the right to perform random and blanket searches of lockers, desks, and other school property to review student possessions for health and safety compliance.

Personal Searches - A student's person or personal effects (e.g., backpack, purse, pockets, phone) may be searched by an administrator to determine whether the student is in possession of contraband or other miscellaneous items. Searches may be performed without notice, without consent, and without a search warrant. All personal searches will be performed in a manner that is respectful of the norms of decency and the emotional maturity of the student. An administrator will conduct the search in private, with another adult witness present and with the permission of the Head of School. The student's parent or guardian will be notified of the search as soon as reasonably possible. Under no circumstances will a body cavity or strip search be permitted unless conducted by law enforcement personnel.

Locker Searches - A student's locker or desk is the property of NCA and is at all times under the control of the school. School authorities may perform general inspections of lockers and desks at any time without notice, without student consent, and without a search warrant. Students are not permitted to lock or otherwise impede access to any locker except with a lock provided by or approved by the school. Unapproved locks will be removed and destroyed.

Drug Testing Policy

Nazarene Christian Academy will implement and enforce a random drug testing policy effective August 1, 2020. The intent of this policy is to improve safety to our school environment, assist students with standing up against negative peer pressure, continue NCA's education programs, and hold students accountable to a standard of a drug-free lifestyle. (See Appendix XIII - Drug and Alcohol Policy)

Rules of Behavior

The NCA Rules of Behavior exist to maintain a climate conducive to learning and to train up students to honor God in all things. In support of teaching our students to set their minds to live according to the Spirit (Romans 8:5-6), rules of behavior are defined to lead students to put off self with its sinful nature and put on the virtues of Christ (Colossians 3:1-17). Discipline for violation of any of the Rules of Behavior and any of the policies of the school will be administered in a manner that leads to repentance (turning away from inappropriate and sinful actions) and molding the student's heart toward God.

A student is subject to discipline for violation of any of the following Rules of Behavior and any of the policies of the school. A student is also subject to discipline of any of the laws of the State of Texas in matters of circumstances within the jurisdiction of the school.

Disciplinary action will result for any act of misbehavior, even if it is not specifically listed within the following list of rules.

Students are required to be supervised by an administrator, teacher, coach, or school endorsed sponsor when
utilizing NCA facilities. Students not authorized to be on campus before or after regular school hours will be
in violation of school regulations. Students are not to be in unsupervised portions of campus or vehicles
without faculty permission.

- Students shall obey the lawful instructions of teachers, principal, and other personnel in authority.
 - Students shall not engage in any activity forbidden by the laws of the state of Texas, which interfere
 with school purpose or educational function.
 - Students shall not use violence, force, threat, intimidation, fear, or comparable conduct interfering
 with school purposes or urge other students to engage in such conduct.
 - Students shall not carry a weapon or "look-alike" weapon of any type on the school premises at any time or at any school activity.
 - Students possessing, using, distributing, or being under the influence of any drug or intoxicant of
 any kind on the school premises, at any time, at any school activity may be removed from the
 academy. NCA reserves the right not to accept any student who has a history of involvement with
 drugs and/or alcohol.
- Students shall be respectful in word and manner toward God, teachers, principal, and other personnel in authority. (Romans 13:1-5)
 - Students will show respect and not use verbal or physical abuse, sexually harass others, engage in
 any indecent language, gestures, or acts or make threats of violence to other students, adults, or
 school personnel. See Appendix VII Harassment Policy.
 - Students will use respectful language at all times.
 - Students shall show respect to our church staff and faculty/staff by addressing them with their individual titles. For example, Pastor Glidden, Mrs. Adams, Dr. Brooke, etc.
 - Students shall follow the teacher's directions, obey special rules for your class and obey all school personnel.
 - Students shall honor God in speech. Profanity, lying, and taking God's name in vain will not be tolerated.
 - Students will show respect for God and country by obeying chapel rules.
 - Students shall follow the dress code and maintain a neat and clean appearance. See Appendix IV -Dress Code.
 - Students shall honor God with attitudes (no rebellious or irreligious attitudes).
 - Students shall respect the educational focus through no cell phone usage during the entire school day. See Appendix V - Cell Phone Policy.
 - Students who drive will follow the Driving Policy. See Appendix VI Driving Policy.
 - Students shall not bring personal items to school (such as toys, hand-held games or devices) that
 can cause disruption or increase risk of damage. NCA will not be responsible if these items are
 lost, stolen, or damaged.
- Public displays of affection on campus will not be allowed or at any school activity. Students will follow a
 "keep your hands to yourself" policy, which also includes no roughhousing, tripping, pushing, hitting,
 physical intimidation, etc
- Students shall be considerate of schoolmates; fighting and abusive language toward others will not be tolerated. See Appendix VII - Harassment Policy.

- Students shall exercise inclusion and compassion toward other students; no intentional exclusion and favoritism allowed.
- Students shall be punctual and regular in attendance and honor school rules.
 - Students shall be orderly and industrious.
 - No leaving the classroom or school grounds without permission.
 - No unauthorized video cameras or still photography cameras.
- Students shall not take, steal, or borrow any property that does not belong to him/her without consent of the person to whom such property belongs.
 - No theft in any form.
- Students shall be honest and upright, demonstrating integrity, and be clean in personal and moral habits.
 - No cheating or lying in any form is allowed.
 - Uniforms are to be well-fitted, neat in appearance without holes, rips, etc.
- Students shall adhere to the Statement on Marriage, Gender, and Sexuality located in the Statement of Faith.
 - Dress in conformance with one's biological sex
 - Use the restrooms, locker rooms, and changing facilities conforming with one's biological sex
 - o Abstaining from all intimate sexual conduct outside the marital union of one man and one woman
 - No material containing nudity or pornography.
- Students shall not damage property and will be held accountable for damage done to property belonging to
 other students, NCA, The Training Depot, or Generations Church of the Nazarene. Students shall treat all
 property with respect.
 - No littering.
 - Only water in a clear container is permitted in classrooms.
 - No gum in the school.
- It is expected that students will adhere to general standards of order by cleaning up all areas (i.e., classrooms, grounds, gymnasium, buses, etc.) following student activities. Failure to do so could result in loss of privileges or other discipline.
- All secondary students are required to read and sign the "NCA Honor Pledge" thus agreeing to abide by this
 pledge. See Appendix II Copy of Honor Pledge.
- Locker Room Conduct
 - NCA understands the necessity for limited supervision in locker rooms in order to provide appropriate privacy for students; therefore, a considerable amount of trust and self governance must be extended to, and practiced by, students using such facilities. Locker rooms are for the exclusive purposes of storing personal and school-issued belongings (of which the student is solely responsible) essential to school activities, and for changing clothes associated with school sponsored activities. Socializing, recording content, studying, waiting for classes to begin or end, making phone calls, loitering, or any other activity unrelated to the explicit purposes listed above are forbidden.

NCA affirms the sanctity of life and upholds biblical standards of purity. While we respond with grace, each
situation involving student pregnancy will be evaluated individually by administration and the school board,
considering factors such as age, legal obligations (including reporting requirements), and the overall impact
on the school community.

In the event a student becomes pregnant or is identified as the father of an unborn child, both students will be subject to suspension from on-campus attendance and all extracurricular activities until the term of the pregnancy is completed. Following the term of the pregnancy, both students may reapply for continued enrollment at NCA. In order to preserve the learning environment for all students, the administration reserves the right to make adjustments regarding continued enrollment, class attendance, or participation in extracurricular activities for either student involved.

At all times, our goal is to lead with compassion while upholding the school's values. We seek to walk alongside students and families with grace, while maintaining the integrity of the learning environment for all students. (Updated July 2025)

Disciplinary and Dismissal Procedures

In alignment with the Code of Christian Conduct, Nazarene Christian Academy provides biblical teaching and training throughout the school program and will manifest itself in example and in verbal teaching. Corrective guidance following wrong behavior includes:

- A clear understanding of the offense by both the disciplinarian and the student.
- Ensure the student's understanding of the error of the offense and its consequences.
- Guidance given toward restoring broken relationships, removing guilt, and reinforcing the child's decision to change his/her behavior, or make better choices in the future.
- A fair punishment given.

NCA's disciplinary process includes Positive Incentives and Rewards, Classroom Management, and Behavioral Management.

Positive Incentives and Rewards

The NCA Faculty and Staff, while using developmentally appropriate and attention keeping curriculum, also utilize a positive reinforcement/reward system to encourage 'good behavior' by our students. The classroom rules will be stated positively, good behavior will be recognized and rewarded while warnings and write-ups will be reserved as a last resort. Examples of positive reward incentives are earned privileges or activities, leveled colored markers as a conduct status reminder program, and other small group or individual awards.

Elementary Conduct Grades - Elementary students begin each week with 100 points for their weekly conduct grade. Points will be subtracted for each infraction of the classroom or school discipline plan. Students must maintain at least a 90% average in conduct for a **nine-week period** in order to make an "A" on their report card.

Conduct Club is an elementary reward program. Students who maintain at least a 90% average in conduct for the nine-weeks earn the right to participate in a special event. Example: movie and snack in the gym.

Secondary Incentives - At the secondary level, students are rewarded in a variety of ways. Various outside organizations ask for student nominations for programs, awards, honors, potential scholarships, etc. An annual spring awards event also recognizes students for various achievements with grades, leadership, conduct, attendance, etc. Students participating in Athletics are presented awards at an annual sports awards event. In addition, NCA employees may nominate students for a Lion Success Card. A monthly drawing is conducted for a student prize.

Classroom Behavioral Management

Teachers will generally be responsible for the conduct of students within each classroom. Students should expect to be corrected by a teacher whenever engaging in acts that are not in the best interest of the other students or the school. Various disciplinary actions might be used including: loss of privileges, loss of tickets, loss of free time during lunch, parent contact, individual behavioral plan of improvement. Each teacher will clearly communicate their classroom's positive incentive and reward system.

In addition, teachers may assign after-school detention (ranging from 15 to 30 minutes) for repeated or disruptive behavior after classroom interventions—such as verbal warnings, the loss of Lion Time, or other appropriate strategies—have been used. Parents will be contacted when a detention is assigned, and students are expected to serve it promptly and respectfully. More serious or ongoing issues may be referred to administration, which may result in additional consequences, including administrative detention (which will include a fee paid directly to the assigned detention teacher), suspension, or further disciplinary action. (Updated July 2025)

For most students, simple corrective action will prompt the appropriate change. For others, more extensive efforts must be made. For a few students, the school is neither equipped nor staffed to assist with the substantial changes that are needed. The ultimate responsibility for a student's behavior rests with the student and his/her parents/guardians. At such times as the teacher has tried unsuccessfully to solve a discipline problem through a variety of methods or feels that immediate intervention is required, a referral will be made to the administrator.

The foundation for good discipline is developed in the home where parents/guardians, by teaching and by example, develop in the child habits of appropriate behavior, as well as proper attitudes toward school and for those in authority. Therefore, home and school must work together toward the mutually desired goal of intellectual, emotional, and spiritual maturity for all students.

All procedures and guidelines will be fair, just, flexible, and in the best interest of the individual student as well as the school community as a whole.

Administrative Behavioral Management

When a student violates a rule, which cannot be handled in the classroom with a mild form of correction, the student will be referred to the office. Disciplinary consequences may vary based on the individual student's disciplinary history. While the school strives for consistency, the severity and frequency of previous offenses may influence the disciplinary action taken. This approach ensures that each student's unique circumstances are considered, and that consequences are fair and appropriate to promote growth and accountability.

Appropriate actions by the administrator may include but are not limited to:

Parental contact

Parent/Teacher/Administrator conference

Confiscation of items

Restriction of privileges

Individual plan of improvement (Behavioral and/or Academic Probation Plan)

Restitution

School or community service

Detention

Suspension

Expulsion

Notify police/prosecution (only for suitable offenses)

If actions are escalated to Detention, Suspension or Expulsion, the following guidelines apply.

Detention

The administrator may assign detention after school. A detention notice will be sent home with the student or a notice will be sent via email on the day it is assigned giving details about the behavioral offense, cost of detention assignment, and time/date of the assigned detention. Arrangements for student transportation after the detention is served must be made by the parent. Additional charges may apply if the student remains after the stated ending time of the detention.

Suspension

Suspension is the temporary denial by the school administration of the right to attend class, school, or school-sponsored or authorized functions. A suspension may last for the rest of the school day or any specified time up to one calendar year. Suspension may also result in the assignment of up to two hours of community service per day suspended for middle school students and up to four hours of community service per day suspended for high school students. The student is required to have administration pre-approve fulfillment of the community service

requirement prior to service, assign a completion date, and approve documentation upon completion. Failure to complete community service requirements may result in additional suspension. Service completed to satisfy disciplinary consequences may not be used to fulfill Christian Service requirements. On the day of suspension, the student is ineligible for extra-curricular activities, including before/after school and evening events. Students may resume extracurricular activities the day following suspension.

A short- term suspension is the rest of the school day and up to two days. Any suspension that is shorter than 2 days may result in zeroes for all work, tests, or quizzes missed.

A long- term suspension is for any length of time of three days or longer. The first two days of suspension may result in zeroes. Any work, quizzes or tests missed after the second day may be made up for a partial grade of 70 being the highest grade permitted.

Expulsion

Expulsion is the permanent denial by the school administration of the right to attend class, school, or school-sponsored or authorized functions.

Recommended Withdrawal (Updated June 2025)

At the discretion of the administration, parents may be asked to recommend withdrawing their student if it is determined that the student is not eligible to continue attending due to misconduct, attitude, or a sustained failure to put forth academic effort. Recommended withdrawal, rather than expulsion, is typically more favorable for the student and may facilitate enrollment at another school.

• Students who are expelled or withdraw due to disciplinary action are not allowed on the NCA campus at any time (including all grounds, parking lots, and buildings), nor are they allowed to attend any NCA sponsored event (academic, athletic, social, or extra-curricular), either as a participant, guest, or spectator.

Extracurricular Programs

Extracurricular activities are school-sponsored activities designed to achieve specific goals that contribute to a student's personal, physical, social, and spiritual development. These activities encourage cooperative attitudes, acceptance of responsibility, increased student involvement, the development of specific interests and skills, and a carryover of these attributes into post high school life.

It is important to realize that participation in extracurricular activities is a privilege and not a right, and students must meet specific requirements in order to participate. Students may participate in extracurricular activities if:

- Any applicable fees are paid
- Student has not been restricted from participation due to disciplinary actions by school administration or coach

- Student athletes are not failing any class in accordance with the athletic eligibility policies and schedule mandated by the athletic conference. (see Athletic Eligibility information below)
- Attend school a minimum of half-day on the date of the game

Athletics

The high school programs are a part of the TAPPS conference.

Annual sports physicals, medical history, and NCA/TAPPS forms are required. Athletes will not be able to participate in practices or games until current forms are submitted to the office and all athletic fees are paid.

It is not a student's right to participate in athletics but rather a privilege. Sports will be added/dropped based on participation level and availability of coaching staff.

The Texas Education Agency requires all high school students to earn one credit of PE/Athletics credit as part of the graduation requirements. Typically this will be scheduled during the freshman year unless there are conflicts with the scheduling of core classes.

Athletic Eligibility

Students receiving a course grade of below 70 will not be allowed to participate in extracurricular activities until the next eligibility period. The eligibility schedule will be communicated through the coaching staff and administration.

Students receiving a grade below 70 will not be allowed to dismiss early and travel with the team to games. They can, however, go to the game on their own after 3:30pm. They will not be allowed to leave school early. If any classes are missed due to attending a game while ineligible, any work missed will result in a grade of "0".

Athletic Participation Parent Volunteer Requirement

Families are required to participate as a volunteer in at least two games each sport season. This requirement is two games per family, not per athlete. You may choose among several areas such as the gate, concession stand, clock, book, etc.

While we encourage everyone to share in the volunteer experience, we understand that not every family is able to volunteer due to other commitments or schedule conflicts. To accommodate this, families may opt out of volunteering by paying \$25 per required volunteer experience (\$50 total for the season). To be fair to all families, a fee up to \$50 will be charged to families who do not fulfill their volunteer obligation.

Sports Fees

Fees for participating in sports are determined on an annual basis (See Appendix VIII - Extracurricular Fees).

Elective Classes and Programs

Percussion

Percussion studies are open to students regardless of prior experience, but may require an entrance assessment at the Director's discretion.

Fifth and sixth graders will have the opportunity to study the foundational skills of percussion. In 7th and 8th grade students will build upon foundational skills in an intermediate elective, along with expanded performance opportunities. This elective exposes middle school students to high school level Drumline. 9th-12th graders continue to expand their skills and specializations in our most advanced elective, modeled after university percussion departments.

The NCA Percussion Department seeks to expose students to a wide variety of instruments and techniques.

Areas of study at NCA Percussion include, but are not limited to:

- Marching Battery Drums and Cymbals
- Athletics Drumline/Pep Band Percussion
- 2 and 4 Mallet Marimba
- Drum Set and Worship Team drumming
- Chamber music techniques
- · Marimba Choir
- Large and Small Percussion Ensembles
- Timpani
- Orchestral Snare Drum
- Orchestral Cymbal Techniques
- Tambourine and Triangle Techniques
- General Auxiliary Percussion
- Hand Drumming Basics

Basic music theory is also explored, complementing other music studies at NCA. This includes subjects such as: counting, note values, rhythms, key signatures, pitches, intervals, reading and writing music, intervals, etc.

NCA has an amazing array of percussion equipment for your student to use. There are consumables and costs in maintaining equipment, but we want to make our percussion program accessible to all students. Families are asked to provide a payment for classroom supplies and consumables, many of which will be personally owned. No refunds will be given if a student chooses to quit percussion. Students are required to participate in the NCA's Fine Arts Showcase event in the fall and spring each year. Private lessons will be available at a fee paid to the instructor.

Theater

A theater program was started in 2019 and this class is currently being offered to 8th - 12th grade students. It is NCA's goal to expand this program to other grade levels in the future. Students in this program will be performing in various events, chapels, competitions, and programs throughout the school year. Fundraising for special projects or equipment may be requested. The class is used to meet their Fine Arts requirement for graduation and is treated as an elective.

Choir

Secondary choir is offered for all Middle/High School students. Fundraising for special projects may be requested. The class is used to meet their Fine Arts requirements and is treated as an elective. Students are required to participate in NCA's Fine Arts Showcase event in the fall and spring each year.

Art

Art will be offered to secondary students. Students may also be responsible for purchasing various art supplies depending on the level of the art class. Fundraising for special projects may be requested. Students are required to participate in NCA's Fine Arts Showcase event in the fall and spring each year.

Elective Classes

Nazarene Christian Academy makes every effort to offer a variety of elective classes. Be sure to check with your Academic Advisor for electives offered at this time.

Examples of electives offered when enough students show an interest: Creative Writing, Journalism, Public Speaking, Career Specific Internships, Consumer Financial Management, Leadership, Yearbook, etc.

P.E. Class is required. Every elementary student will participate unless the parent sends a note to sit out **one** day. After that, a doctor's note will be required in order not to participate in PE class.

Students in 6^{th} through 8^{th} grade will participate in PE unless scheduling dynamics prevent this opportunity. Students in $9^{th} - 12^{th}$ grade must participate in one year of PE, but no more than four credits will be awarded during the high school years.

Elementary Specials- Music, Spanish, Art, Computers, Library and Music

Elementary students have specials weekly. Students are required to attend programs where they perform.

Academics

Grading Scale

Kindergarten uses a progress/mastery grading system and their report cards will be issued every nine weeks. Academic grades $(1^{st} - 12^{th})$ are reported on a nine-week basis by a number grade.

The grading scale is as follows...

A 90-100 B 80-89 C 70-79

F 69 and below

According to the grading scale the highest grade a student can receive on their report card will be 100.

In elementary grades, graded work is sent home regularly, and parents should be in the habit of checking backpacks each evening during homework time. Parents are encouraged to take the primary role in teaching their child strong

study habits and skills, while at the same time monitoring their academic progress through FACTS. See Appendix XI - Homework Guidelines.

A parent/teacher conference may be scheduled at any time as requested by the parent, the teacher, or the administration.

Students with a 4.0 GPA (straight A's) will receive special recognition for "NCA Academic Excellence" at the annual school awards program.

Report cards will be issued every nine weeks electronically via FACTS.

Report Cards and transcripts will be held until all financial **obligations** are paid in full to the school.

Transcripts

Transcripts are free for current students. There is a \$5 charge for all requests from former students. Transcripts will be available five business days after the written request is received.

Dual Enrollment Classes

Students who have obtained a junior status(summer after their sophomore year) and possess a 3.5 GPA or higher may be considered for dual enrollment courses. Students interested in this program will work closely with the Academic Advisor to meet graduation requirements in a timely manner.

The first 24 credits of dual enrollment coursework completed will be counted toward the high school GPA/numeric average. Additional coursework may be taken by a student, but will not be considered for weighted numeric averages or GPA calculations in the determination of Honor Graduates. A numeric average of 80% or better will be counted on a weighted average scale (5.0) toward high school GPA and numeric average. Note: all dual enrollment coursework will be reflected on the final transcript.

The Academic Advisor will provide interested students with information regarding approved course selections, scheduling processes, academic reporting procedures, full-time student status, etc. Dual enrollment courses can be placed on the unofficial high school transcript and considered honor graduate calculations prior to receiving an official transcript if proof of numeric average is produced under the supervision of the Academic Advisor. However, a final high school transcript will not contain these grades without an official transcript from the college. It is the responsibility of the student to provide all necessary dual enrollment paperwork to NCA in a timely manner.

Other Academic Requirements

Summer Reading – all secondary students (6th-12th grade) will have access to the summer reading list (found on our website) and are required to participate for a test grade. Summer reading will be due the first day back to school.

Secondary students will receive a **test** grade for summer reading.

All elementary students completing the assignment will receive a special gift.

ACSI Competition – Students attending District/Local Competitions will be required to make up quizzes and tests.

Bible Study and Devotional Time

Our Bible studies and devotional time endeavors to establish a faith in God to meet the needs in a student's life. We also want prayer to become a daily habit in their lives, not just a ritual. We hope that each student will accept Jesus Christ as his/her personal Savior.

The elementary students meet together for pledges, prayer and announcements every Friday morning. All other days pledges, prayer and announcements are done in individual classrooms. Secondary students have time dedicated each morning during the first period to do the same.

Bible Memory – We believe Bible memory will aid greatly in the development of Christian faith and character. Students in K-12th are required to memorize scripture on a weekly basis.

Chapel – students enjoy a chapel service once a week. These are led by our Pastors, Principal, Faculty, Students, and speakers from near and far (Missionaries and special guests).

Field Trips

Field trips are carefully planned by school officials and serve to enhance the student's educational experience and are considered part of the academic curriculum. See Appendix X - Field Trip Policy.

Annual Achievement Tests

Each year all students in Kindergarten through Eleventh grade will be given an annual evaluation for measuring student progress and achievement of curriculum goals.

- Elementary through 7th grade students will take the Iowa Assessments standardized test in the spring
- 8th and 9th grade students will be given the PSAT-8/9 in the fall and the PreACT-8/9 in the spring
- Sophomores take the PSAT-10 with the option to take the PSAT/NMSQT test for an additional cost in the fall, and the PreACT in the spring
- Juniors will be given the PSAT/NMSQT test in the fall with the option to take the official SAT/ACT in the spring for an additional cost

Graduation Requirements

NCA follows the TEA guidelines for graduation requirements. An optional track is offered through dual credit enrollment classes taken from local colleges. Graduation requirements and various levels of diploma plans are listed on the school website at www.nazarenechristianacademy.org - Academics/Academic Profile

Selection of Honor Graduates

The Valedictorian and Salutatorian of Nazarene Christian Academy will be selected by utilizing the following method.

The senior class valedictorian and salutatorian will be selected from those students who successfully meet requirements for graduating with *Distinguished Scholars Diploma* with the highest and second highest numeric

averages (round to the nearest hundredth). In the event of a tie for the above positions, the highest numeric averages obtained when all common courses taken by the students who are tied have been averaged (round to the nearest hundredth). Common courses will include only those courses in mathematics, science, language arts, social studies, Bible and foreign language. Additionally, potential valedictorian or salutatorian candidates must have consistently adhered to the NCA conduct expectations during their tenure at Nazarene Christian Academy. (Updated July 2025)

Only Texas Education Association member school grades will be considered for Honor Graduates.

Students shall be preliminarily ranked at the end of the sixth and seventh semester for college admission purposes. Students shall be officially ranked upon the completion of their second semester of their senior year. All course work submitted by the end of the fourth nine-weeks will be considered in these calculations. It is the responsibility of the student to submit dual enrollment coursework on time.

Students must be in attendance at Nazarene Christian Academy full time for both their junior and senior years to be considered for Valedictorian or Salutatorian.

National Honor Society/National Junior Honor Society

The purpose of these chapters shall be to create enthusiasm for scholarship, to stimulate a desire to render service, to promote leadership, and to encourage the development of character in all students of Nazarene Christian Academy.

Membership in these chapters is an honor bestowed upon a student. Selection for membership is by a faculty vote and is based on outstanding academic scholarship, character, leadership, and service. Once selected, members have the responsibility to continue to demonstrate these qualities.

Membership of these chapters shall be known as active and graduate. Active members shall become graduate members upon graduation. Candidates become members when inducted at a special ceremony.

Eligible students will receive a letter from the faculty advisor in the spring inviting them to apply for membership. The faculty council will then vote on the candidates. Deserving students will then be required to attend the induction ceremony to become members. All members are required to attend this ceremony, attend all chapter meetings and participate in all chapter service activities.

National Honor Society Membership

Candidates eligible for selection to this chapter must be members of the sophomore, junior, or senior class and have a minimum cumulative grade point average (GPA) of 3.5. This scholastic level of achievement shall remain fixed. The candidate's eligibility shall then be considered on service, leadership, and character. Members who resign or are dismissed are never again eligible for membership or its benefits.

In order to be eligible for NHS membership, candidates must meet the following requirements:

- Be a student at Nazarene Christian Academy for at least one full semester.
- Be a member of the tenth, eleventh or twelfth grade.
- Maintain a cumulative grade point average of at least 3.5 on a 4-point scale.
- Submit a Request for Consideration information form by the deadline published in the NHS calendar for the current year.

National Junior Honor Society Membership

Candidates eligible for selection to this chapter must be members of the sixth, seventh, eighth, or ninth grade and have a minimum cumulative grade point average (GPA) of 3.5. This scholastic level of achievement shall remain fixed. The candidate's eligibility shall then be considered on service, leadership, character, and citizenship. Members who resign or are dismissed are never again eligible for NJHS membership or its benefits.

In order to be eligible for NJHS membership, candidates must meet the following requirements:

- Be a student at Nazarene Christian Academy for at least one full semester.
- Be a member of the sixth, seventh, eighth, or ninth grade.
- Maintain a cumulative grade point average of at least 3.5 on a 4-point scale.
- Submit a Request for Consideration information form by the deadline published in the NJHS calendar for the current year.

Nazarene Christian Academy Student Council

Nazarene Christian Academy Student Council is a member of the Texas Association of Student Councils. The purpose of which is a group of elected and appointed students working together with an adult advisor within the framework of bylaws to provide a means for student expression and assistance in school affairs and activities, give opportunities for student experience in leadership and encourage student/faculty/community relations.

As a member of the Texas Association of Student Councils, Nazarene Christian Academy Student Council is a group of student leaders who work with an adult advisor to collaborate with others to impact their school community, which impacts their city or town, which impacts our state, which impacts our country, which changes the world.

The Nazarene Christian Academy Student Council shall consist of the elected officers, appointed officers, and one or two representatives from each high school grade level who have agreed through the application process to live in accordance with the standards set by the Nazarene Christian Academy Honor Code.

Transportation and Campus Access

Student Driving Policy

Students shall abide by the Student Driving Policy found at Appendix VI - Driving Policy.

Closed Campus

NCA operates as a **closed campus**. Students must remain on campus for the entire school day unless a parent or a designated person listed on the official form signs them out.

- **Student Drivers** even if a student is driving they must sign out at the security desk before leaving campus.
- Alumni & Former Students Alumni are welcome to visit during the school day but must check in at the security desk and have an appointment with a teacher or staff member. Former students (students who attended NCA but did not graduate from NCA) are not permitted to visit during the school day.

Student Arrival and Pick-Up

Classes for elementary students at NCA are from 8 a.m. to 3 p.m. and secondary is from 8 a.m. to 3:30 p.m. NCA students are not to enter the building until 7:30 a.m. or remain in the building after 4:00 p.m. If dropping elementary

students off in front of the school building we ask that you walk them to the door not drop off at the curb. Parents may drop off their child at one of the supervised carports on the west side of the building.

Once arriving on campus, students must enter the building for supervision and must remain in the building until parental transportation has been arranged. If parents desire for their child to leave campus by walking or riding a bike, they must inform the school office prior to their child leaving. Before and after school child care is available through the **TRAINING DEPOT**. Please make necessary arrangements with the daycare before the services are needed. The Training Depot cannot accept children on a drop-in basis.

If arrangements have not been made with The Training Depot, NCA will send the student to the after-school study hall until the parent picks the child up. The parent will need to pay the study hall attendant at the time of pick up and sign your child out.

All parents are requested to leave the classroom at the bell (8:00 a.m.). Parents should not enter classrooms or the elementary hallway during dismissal procedures. No one is to linger in the school halls during class time.

Parents who share custody are responsible for following their court documents and communicating with each other for pick-ups, drop-offs, absences, and tardies. If a custodial parent lists a noncustodial parent as an emergency contact or as an authorized person to pick up the child, NCA will treat the noncustodial parent as it would any other contact in a time of emergency or as any other person who is authorized to pick up the child.

Should school leadership deem conflict within a family to be disruptive to a degree that the school environment is negatively affected or the school is unable to effectively fulfill its function, NCA may limit a parent's involvement in school activities or even unenroll the student(s).

Early Release Students

All high school students having late arrival/early release must sign in/out at the security desk and leave the campus as soon as their last class is finished.

School Dismissal

All students exit through the designated doors of the school building. **Students may not enter/exit through Training Depot doors.**

Visitors

ALL VISITORS MUST SIGN IN AT THE SCHOOL SECURITY DESK AND OBTAIN A VISITOR'S IDENTIFICATION BADGE. THIS IS FOR THE STUDENTS' SAFETY.

After School Activities

Students **must** be in the care of a parent, teacher, or sponsor at the end of the school day. If they are waiting for an after school activity to begin, they must still be in the care of an adult. If a game or practice isn't until 4:30pm then a parent **MUST** assume responsibility for the student or make arrangements for their care. NCA discourages students from walking to local businesses after school.

Any student left unsupervised between school and an event may forfeit their inclusion on the team, club, or activity.

Miscellaneous

School Parties (See Appendix XII - School Parties Policy)

Library

Nazarene Christian Academy's Lewis Library was organized in 1988. Berniece Pennington, upon retiring from public school teaching, took the accumulated stacks of books and organized them into a library. With the help of many senior adult members from the church, the stacks of books were cataloged and ready for use by the beginning of the 1988-1989 school year. Mr. Chesley Lewis and his wife Geraldine contributed money, materials and shelves to the library to aid in its creation. The library was named the Lewis Library in honor of these donations and the people who gave them.

The library includes media material for all ages. Books and other media have been added to the library through private donations, fines, and book fairs.

Our librarian seeks to provide material that adheres to Christian standards, but is unable to read every book in its entirety. If a parent feels some material is inappropriate, please submit the material to the school office along with an explanation of your concerns. Your concern will be reviewed and considered.

Lost and Found

Please check in the school office or in the health room outside of the uniform closet. All articles that are left in the classrooms, hallways, gym, restrooms, and on the grounds will be placed in the lost and found. We will make every attempt to return the items that are marked with names. However, it is the student's responsibility to claim their possessions. Items will be donated or disposed of at the end of each three weeks.

Damage to Personal Property

The student's name should be placed on all personal property such as clothing, shoes, purses, notebooks, and lunchboxes. The child is expected to be responsible for items of personal property and is required to respect the personal property of others. Any damage done to another person's property will require proper restitution.

Parents are encouraged to keep their children from bringing unnecessary items to school. Students should not bring any electronics such as iPods, phones, electronics games, etc. to school unless suggested by teachers for use in the classroom and approved by the administration. If families are not comfortable sending electronic equipment to school upon teacher request due to potential loss, theft, or damage, please refrain and make arrangements with the teacher for alternatives. NCA will not be responsible for personal items brought from home.

Medication (Updated June 2025)

In compliance with the "Minimum Standards - Schools: Grades Kindergarten and above", Nazarene Christian Academy will adhere to the following policy:

Only necessary medication authorized by a physician may be taken at school. If the medication is needed in order for a student to remain in school, the parent or guardian must fill out a *Medication Administration Authorization Form* (available in the health room). **All prescriptions** must be in original containers and labeled with current pharmacy labels, and left in the health room. Medications that are controlled substances must be checked in by parent/guardian only. Over the counter can be brought by the student with the form.

<u>Unassigned Albuterol Policy</u>

Purpose and Availability: At Nazarene Christian Academy, we prioritize the safety and well-being of our students. In the event of an emergency involving respiratory distress, the school maintains a supply of unassigned albuterol. This medication is available for emergency use only and is not assigned to any one student.

When and How It Is Used:

- Emergency Use: Trained school personnel or volunteers may administer unassigned albuterol if a student shows signs of respiratory distress and immediate action is necessary to help alleviate the emergency.
- Administration: Only staff or volunteers who have received proper training in recognizing respiratory distress and in administering albuterol will use this medication. They will follow strict guidelines to ensure that it is used safely and effectively.

Parental Notification and Consent:

- Consent: Consent is required from a parent or guardian before the unassigned albuterol can be used on your child. This consent allows the school to provide emergency treatment if needed.
- Notification: In the event that unassigned albuterol is administered, the school will notify you as soon as possible. We will provide details regarding the incident and any further steps required for follow-up care.

Follow-Up Care:

• If unassigned albuterol is administered to your child, we strongly recommend that you seek follow-up care with your child's primary care provider. This step ensures that any underlying conditions are addressed and that your child receives the appropriate ongoing medical evaluation and treatment.

Safety and Record Keeping:

- Secure Storage and Regular Checks: The albuterol is stored securely on campus, with regular checks to ensure that it is within its expiration date and in proper condition.
- Documentation: Every use of unassigned albuterol is thoroughly documented, including details such as the student's age, the circumstances of the administration, and the name of the person who

- administered the medication. This documentation helps us maintain the highest standards of care and accountability.
- Liability Protection: Our trained personnel and volunteers act in good faith and in accordance with
 established emergency procedures. Parents and guardians are assured that the use of unassigned
 albuterol is strictly limited to emergency situations, and that staff are supported in making these
 important decisions.

Questions and Additional Information: We are committed to transparency regarding our health and safety procedures. If you have any questions about the unassigned albuterol policy, the training provided to our staff, or any other related matter, please contact the school office.

By including this policy in our student handbook, Nazarene Christian Academy ensures that all parents and guardians are informed about the emergency measures in place to protect the health and safety of our students.

Unassigned Epinephrine Policy

Purpose and Availability: At Nazarene Christian Academy, student safety is our top priority. To provide rapid emergency care for individuals experiencing a severe allergic reaction (anaphylaxis), the school maintains a supply of unassigned epinephrine. This life-saving medication is available for emergency use only and is not prescribed to any one student.

When and How It Is Used:

- Emergency Use: In the event that a student or visitor shows clear signs of anaphylaxis—such as
 difficulty breathing, swelling, or hives—a trained school personnel member or volunteer may
 administer unassigned epinephrine immediately.
- Administration: Only staff or volunteers who have received proper training in recognizing
 anaphylaxis and administering epinephrine will use this medication. They will adhere to
 established procedures to ensure safe and effective use.

Parental Notification and Consent:

- Consent: Consent from a parent or guardian is required for the administration of unassigned epinephrine to your child. This consent enables the school to treat life-threatening allergic reactions without delay.
- Notification: If unassigned epinephrine is used, you will be notified as soon as possible with details about the incident and any recommendations for follow-up medical care.

Follow-Up Care:

Following the emergency use of epinephrine, we strongly encourage you to seek prompt follow-up
care with your child's healthcare provider. This helps ensure that any ongoing treatment needs are
met and that your child's condition is closely monitored.

Safety and Record Keeping:

Secure Storage: The epinephrine is stored securely in a clearly marked, accessible location.
 Regular checks are conducted to ensure the medication is within its expiration date and in proper condition.

Documentation: Every administration of unassigned epinephrine is fully documented. Records
include details such as the individual's age, the circumstances of administration, and the name of
the administering personnel. This process supports our commitment to accountability and
high-quality care.

Liability Protection:

Our trained personnel and volunteers act in good faith and follow established emergency
procedures. Parents are assured that the use of unassigned epinephrine is strictly limited to
emergency situations, and that our staff are supported in making these critical decisions.

Questions and Additional Information: For any questions about this policy or our emergency procedures, please contact the school office. We are committed to transparency and to the health and safety of all students.

Emergency Use of Narcan Policy

Purpose and Availability: At Nazarene Christian Academy, student and staff safety is our highest priority. In the event of an opioid-related overdose, the school maintains a supply of Narcan (naloxone) for emergency use. Narcan is a life-saving medication that can temporarily reverse the effects of an opioid overdose, providing critical time to obtain further medical assistance.

When and How It Is Used:

- Emergency Use: Trained school personnel or designated volunteers may administer Narcan if an
 individual is suspected of experiencing an opioid overdose. Recognizable signs may include
 unresponsiveness, slowed or difficulty breathing, or other symptoms indicating an overdose
 situation.
- Administration: Only individuals who have completed the designated training in overdose
 recognition and Narcan administration are authorized to use the medication. They will follow
 clearly defined procedures to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the emergency response.

Parental Notification and Consent:

- Consent: Consent is required from a parent or guardian for the emergency use of Narcan on a student. This consent allows the school to administer the medication if an opioid overdose emergency arises.
- Notification: Should Narcan be used, the school will notify the parent or guardian as soon as possible with a summary of the incident and recommendations for follow-up medical care.

Follow-Up Care:

• After Narcan is administered, we strongly advise that the affected individual receive prompt medical evaluation and follow-up care from a healthcare provider. This ensures that any additional care needs are met following the overdose reversal.

Safety and Record Keeping:

• Secure Storage: Narcan is stored in a secure, clearly labeled, and accessible location on campus. Regular checks are conducted to ensure the medication is in good condition and not expired.

Documentation: Each administration of Narcan is carefully documented. Records include the
circumstances of the incident, the dosage administered, and the name of the person who
administered the medication. This documentation is essential for maintaining quality care and
accountability.

Liability Protection:

All trained personnel and volunteers who act in accordance with this policy and their training are
protected when responding to an overdose emergency. The use of Narcan is strictly limited to these
emergency situations.

Questions and Additional Information: For any questions about this policy or details regarding our emergency procedures, please contact the school office. We are committed to transparency and ensuring the well-being of everyone on our campus.

<u>Immunization Requirements</u>

NCA complies with the immunization requirements as set by the state of Texas.

If there is a reason why a student may not be immunized an affidavit or certificate signed by a parent and notarized must be filed with the school, *Waiver of Conscience*. The affidavit or certificate must be renewed every two years (original-not a copy).

A history of chickenpox, measles, or mumps illness is acceptable instead of a vaccine, with a written statement from a physician showing the date of the disease.

Parent Teacher Fellowship (PTF)

Our objective is to promote the welfare of the students and faculty of NCA. PTF achieves this by planning special activities and fundraisers such as teacher luncheons, school parties, field day, etc.

Parents are highly encouraged to be involved in these activities, are expected to participate in the school fundraisers, and are expected to attend the PTF meetings.

PTF participation forms will be sent home at the beginning of each year to allow you to select how you would like to participate in your child's education. Be sure and visit the PTF's Facebook page to stay up to date on activities. Events will be posted in the school newsletter as well.

Student Insurance

NCA students are covered by a group Student Accident Insurance Program (S.A.I.P). This insurance protects the family in case an accident occurs during school or while traveling to and from school. For families with other insurance policies, this S.A.I.P. is supplementary only. For families with no insurance, S.A.I.P. protection becomes the primary coverage during school activities only.

School Office/Visitor Information

Parents are welcome in the school during special events, lunch with their students in the lobby, and class parties. Guests are required to check in at the security desk first in order to receive a visitor's badge which must be worn

while in the building. Visitation to classrooms is strictly prohibited without permission from school personnel. Any non-parental visitors need to obtain permission from administration to visit the school.

NCA reserves the right to restrict visitation for students or attendance of parents on field trips/events when deemed necessary to maintain a safe and operational environment.

Lunch, homework, books, and messages may be left at the security desk for delivery and should not be taken directly to the student. If you have instructions regarding transportation, vacation, sickness, etc., talk with the school office or personnel at the security desk. Do not leave these instructions with students or other workers.

The school phones are business phones and may be used by the students for emergencies. Since school telephones are for school business only, students and teachers should not be called during school hours except in case of emergency.

Any student who is to be dismissed during the school day must be checked out through the security desk.

Please be aware that the doors to the school will be locked at 8:00am. Individuals must enter through the front doors on the south side of the building and check in at the security desk for a late pass after 8:00 am.

Weather Policies and School Closings

Students will not go outside for recess if the temperature drops below 40 degrees or rises above 100 degrees. In cold weather we will also consider the wind factor before allowing children to go outside no matter what the temperature should be. In hot weather, extra caution will be taken if the temperature is over 90 degrees.

If a parent wants a child to remain inside during recess, a note must be sent to the teacher specifying how many days the child should remain indoors. The validity of the reason will be reviewed by the administration when necessary.

In the event of inclement weather, the safety and well-being of our students and staff are our top priorities. Decisions regarding school closures will be made based on a variety of factors, including road conditions, input from local and state agencies, and the ability to safely operate our facilities. Notifications about school closures will be communicated through our Parent Alert system. We understand that these decisions can affect family schedules, and we appreciate your cooperation and understanding as we prioritize the safety of everyone involved.

Financial Policies/ Tuition

- **A. Checks** Please make checks payable to Nazarene Christian Academy or NCA and include the student's name on the check memo line. Returned checks will be assessed a \$25 fee. After three (3) non-sufficient checks, only the cashier's check, money orders, or cash will be accepted. The Business Office office will not hold checks.
- **B.** Cash– You must get a receipt from the Business Office or NCA Office to ensure proper credit for cash payments.
- C. Credit Cards We accept MC/Visa/Discover and debit cards. There is a 3% processing fee for each transaction.
- **D. Tuition** Please see the tuition and fee schedule published on website at www.nazarenechristianacademy.org Admissions/Tuition and Fees

- **E. Financial Aid** Applications are available from the Business Office. It is our desire at NCA that families can attend without being restricted by costs. Financial aid is available for those in need and each application will be reviewed prayerfully. This application can be completed at any time with consideration of needs decided monthly.
- **F. Late payments** Payments are due on the 1st of the month and considered late after the 5th of the month. (Note: Past due accounts will be given a grace period through the close of business on the 5th day of the month. Accounts past due at the close of business on the 5th day of the month will be assessed a \$40 late fee. NCA may suspend a student from classes until the account is current).
- **G. Statements** To save postage and processing costs, monthly statements will not be sent unless the account has an overdue balance of one month.
- **H. Disenrollment** If a student's tuition becomes past due one month, and satisfactory arrangements have not been made with the proper school authorities, the student(s) will not be admitted to class until both the past due and current payments are made. It is also grounds for immediate dismissal.
- **I. Report Cards, Student Records, and Renweb Access (FACTS)** Will be withheld from students who have a past due balance for tuition or any other fees. Report cards, student records, and Renweb Access will be withheld for all students with any remaining balance at the end of the school year. This includes library fees, athletic fees, or any other school related obligations.
- **J. Damaged Property** Assessments will be made to cover damage by any student to school property including windows, lockers, desks, books, etc.
- **K.** Withdrawals Enrollment is intended to be for the entire school year. Parents are expected to pay for the next month of tuition if less than a 30 day notice of withdrawal is given. If the student leaves at the request of the school administration, any balance/refund will be determined on an individual basis depending on the payment plan selected. The 10% Tuition Deposit is **non-refundable.** Once the school year is in session, student consumable books are not released if a balance is left owing on the account.
- **L.** End of Year Balances All outstanding balances from the previous school year must be paid in full by July 1st. If the overdue amount has not been paid in full by said date; enrollment, books, and testing fees that were paid for the new school year will be applied to it. This could possibly result in a loss of placement in the Academy for the next school year.

<u>Textbooks and Fees</u>

All regular fees (class, textbook, technology, and material) are included in the tuition. The school supplies textbooks and students are required to return books at the end of the school year or upon withdrawal in satisfactory condition. In case of loss or unsatisfactory condition of textbooks, students will be billed for a new replacement book. Please see the tuition and fee schedule published on the website at www.nazarenechristianacademy.org-Student Tuition and Fees. Items not covered in Tuition: Athletic Fees, Class trips, Camps, School Uniforms, Spirit Wear, After School Clubs, Before/After School Care, Lunches and admission fee(s) to Field Trips (gas/driver fees are included in tuition), School Supplies, Class or School Parties, Musical Instruments/Rentals, Participation in Clubs or Honor Societies.

Hot Lunch Program

NCA's lunch program is managed by Food 4 Life. Their 3rd party POS and account management system is Meal Manage. For NCA parents, to open an account, please go to the Food 4 Life website, www.food4lifecaterer.com, click on Lunch menus and account info. There will be a hot plate lunch option as well as a la carte options and snacks for purchase. Monthly lunch menus will be posted on the NCA weekly newsletters. If you have any questions or would like to provide feedback, please email Kameisha Edwards at kameisha@food4lifecaterer.com.

Food delivery from food delivery services (Grubhub, Uber Eats, DoorDash, etc.) are *prohibited*. Parents are welcome to bring their student lunch.

<u>Annual Fund – Tax Deductible Gifts</u>

Nazarene Christian Academy has made every effort to keep tuition affordable. Tuition is not tax-deductible. In charity and faith the Board has budgeted expecting tax-deductible contributions equal to approximately \$300 per student next year. We welcome your love gifts in the amount the Lord enables – not equal gifts but equal sacrifice. Some may do much more and others a little less. Some may do volunteer service or contribute other material gifts in-lieu of cash gifts. It also takes the help of grandparents, local businesses and other friends to meet the total need.

Appendix I - Matthew 18 Principle Guidelines for Conflict Resolution

When relationships between people are close, there is the potential for problems. Nevertheless, it is God's will that we live and work together in harmony. Jesus said, "A new commandment I give unto you, that you love one another as I have loved you." John 13:34

There is a Godly way to handle problems between people at NCA that is workable and successful. This way is not found in any secular book on school administration. It is found in the Scriptures in Matthew 18, thus it is known as the **Matthew 18 Principle.**

Matthew 18:15-17 says, "If your brother sins against you, go and show him his fault, just between the two of you. If he listens to you, you have won your brother over. If he will not listen, take one or two others along, so that every matter may be established by the testimony of two or three witnesses. If he refuses to listen to them, tell it to the church."

Be sure the problem is serious. Will it work itself out in a reasonable time? Is it really my problem?

When a serious problem arises between people in the school the parties involved are to meet to seek the Lord's solution in the matter.

The few problems which are not resolved at level one move on to the next level, which involves another person, usually the Administrator.

Beyond this level, the matter may go to the Pastor, then to the Academy Board.

Persons in school authority do not accept complaints about NCA personnel if the complainer has not gone first to the person.

Be sure you know the facts.
Be straightforward in love.
Be humble and submissive
Be quick to forgive.

Pray and work for a mutual solution.

Keep the matter confidential.

Appendix II - Copy of Honor Pledge

Nazarene Christian Academy maintains an evangelical policy of "open enrollment", in that we do not require a personal confession of faith from all our students. Our mission and purpose is, however, that every student may come to the saving knowledge of Jesus Christ and allow Him to be the Lord of his/her life. In signing this pledge, it is our desire for all students to commit to a seven days a week, 24-hour lifestyle on and off campus.

- I will submit myself to the leadership of Nazarene Christian Academy. I realize that my attendance at NCA is a privilege and not a right. I am determined to give my best and prayerfully support NCA and its philosophy of providing a quality education without compromising the Word of God. (Hebrews 13:17)
- I will apply myself to my studies and endeavor to develop the full powers of my God-given mind. (Luke 2:52; 1 Corinthians 1:5)
- I will practice good health habits and participate in wholesome physical activities. (Romans 12; I Corinthians 3:16-17)
- I will refrain from the lifestyle of sexual immorality, use of alcohol, drugs or tobacco. (1 Corinthians 3:16-17)
- I will abstain from all appearances of evil, and guard my mind from evil influences, such as immoral music, movies, television shows, magazines etc. (1 Thes. 5:22; Phil. 4:8)
- I will continually endeavor to develop the gifts and abilities God has given me and to become more like the person God intends for me to be. (1 Corinthians 12:18-31; Ephesians 4:11-12)
- I will seek to contribute to the well being of others through the giving of myself in loving service as opportunity may present itself. (Matthew 28: 10-20; John 15:17; 2 Corinthians 5:10, 18)
- I will acknowledge the need to preserve my language for words that uplift and encourage my peers and the adults in my life. (Matthew 12:36-37; Proverbs 18:8)
- I will not lie, cheat or steal. I am not only expected to adhere to this policy but also to promote and encourage my peers in following it. (Psalm 15:1-3; Deuteronomy 5:19-20; Psalm 34:13)

Failure to follow this Honor Pledge will result in consequences, some of which may include <u>removal from classroom</u>, <u>suspension or expulsion</u>.

Appendix III - Steps to Admission

Nazarene Christian Academy welcomes your interest in our school! At NCA you will find an environment that encourages a love for learning and the development of Christian character. This document describes the student application process and our Admissions policies. If you have any questions, please contact our Administrative Office at 817-736-3113.

SCHEDULING A TOUR

Come see us first! We encourage you to tour the NCA campus before submitting an application online. We encourage you to call and schedule a tour Monday through Friday. If you have any questions or would like to arrange a classroom visit please call the Administrative Office at 817-736-3113.

COMPLETING THE APPLICATION

We accept applications at any time for the current academic year. Applications may be submitted beginning in February for the following academic year. For each student applying, please:

- 1. Review our handbook online.
- 2. Complete an application online for each child. This can be found on our website at www.nazarenechristianacademy.org.
- 3. Upload a copy of the student's birth certificate with the seal showing along with a copy of each parent's driver's license.
- 4. Upload the most recent report card.
- 5. Upload the student's most recent standardized test results if available. Your student's former school will have this information if you do not.
- 6. Other items needed at time of application, which are part of the online enrollment, are the Statement of Cooperation, Financial Agreement, Pastoral Recommendation, Honor Pledge for secondary students,
- 7. Upload the Physical/Medical History form, a current picture, and your child's immunization record.
- 8. Parents shall provide current, legible copies of all relevant documents concerning custody or visitation of each student enrolled.
- 9. Payment of the application fee (per student) is submitted online.
- 10. All paperwork must be submitted before we are able to schedule the family interview.

FAMILY INTERVIEW

Upon completing an entrance examination, the Administrative office will contact you for your family interview. Family interviews are with the NCA Administrator. Both parents are required to attend with their student(s) if both parents are living or unless one parent has lost parental rights. This is the time to get to know our distinctive education program, our administration, to state your reasons for seeking enrollment at NCA, and discuss your child's curriculum, extracurricular interests, special needs and expectations for student life.

ADMISSIONS COMMITTEE

After the previous steps have been completed, your student's file is reviewed by the Admissions Committee. Parents will be notified in writing of your child's acceptance or non-acceptance. We will not be able to rush the admissions process. All steps must be completed and all paperwork reviewed before students may begin classes.

ADMISSIONS POLICIES

- 1. School records and entrance testing are considered in establishing the potential academic success of each candidate.
- Students transferring from other schools must provide a transcript of academic achievement, and health records. All immunizations records and physical examinations must meet state and local school district guidelines.
- 3. Prospective Kindergarten students must be at least 5 years of age by September 1st of the school year.
- 4. Prospective First Grade students must be at least 6 years of age by September 1st of the school year.
- 5. Nazarene Christian Academy admits students of any race, color, religion, national and ethnic origins.

ACCEPTANCE

- 1. The families of accepted students will be notified in writing after the family interview.
- 2. Arrangements for the tuition deposit and tuition payment plan must be made with the Business Office.

Withdrawing Student – Must give a 30 day notice and have an exit interview with an NCA Administrator.

ACCREDITATION

Nazarene Christian Academy is a traditional school. We use the Abeka/Bob Jones curriculum in the elementary classrooms and several of the secondary classrooms with a Scope and Sequence that meets and exceeds the Texas Essential Knowledge and Skills standards of the Texas Administrative Code 117. NCA is affiliated with the Association of Christian Schools International. We are accredited by the Accreditation Commission of the Texas Association of Baptist Schools (ACTABS), which is one of the officially recognized Accrediting Associations of the State of Texas Education Agency.

ADDRESS

Nazarene Christian Academy 2001 East Main Street Crowley, TX 76036 (817) 736-3113

The Academy is located in Generations Church of the Nazarene (on the right or north side of Main St.)

Appendix IV - Dress Code Policy

General

It is our belief at NCA that a neat, clean and well-groomed appearance is beneficial to the learning experience of the classroom. NCA requires that all students abide by this approved dress code.

Uniforms must be kept in **good condition.** Unraveled hems or rips must be repaired immediately. Neatness is very important, i.e. no baggy or drooping clothing, no faded or unusually worn clothes, etc.

Samples of NCA's official uniform choices and suggested accessories can be viewed online at Flynn O'Hara. www.flynnohara.com/school/tx106 Polo shirts with the official NCA logo can be obtained in the NCA uniform store.

GIRLS' UNIFORM

All girls can wear the NCA plaid skirts (specified on Flynn O'Hara's website), khaki walking shorts or slacks (no double stitching on pants, stitched on pockets, or denim material, etc.) with an official NCA white or navy polo displaying the school logo. Modesty shorts must be worn under skirts at all times. Skirts may be no higher than five inches above the knee.

Girls may wear solid color coordinated navy, black, or white socks; or navy, black or white tights under jumpers or skirts. Cotton leggings can also be worn under the jumper or skirt if they touch the ankle. Pants and sweats are not allowed under jumpers or skirts.

Girls may leave their NCA polo untucked.

Elementary girls in K-5th grade may also wear the plaid jumper (specified on Flynn O'Hara's website), a khaki skort or jumper. They are not allowed to wear any type of makeup. (No body glitter, jewels, excessive accessories, etc.)

BOYS' UNIFORM

Boys are to wear khaki slacks or khaki walking shorts (no double stitching on pants, stitched on pockets, denim material, cargo pants, etc.) with an official NCA white or navy polo displaying the school logo. Boys must wear color coordinated (navy, black, or white) socks.

Boys do not need to tuck in shirts if polos fit properly. Shoulder seams need to be on the shoulder. No oversized polos will be allowed. Only plain white undershirts are to be worn.

Athletics/P.E. DAYS

Middle and high school students are required to wear the designated NCA Athletics/P.E. shirt and shorts on days they participate in physical education or athletics. Approved gear is available through the NCA Athletic Gear Store. Please see the Athletic Director for the link and ordering information. (Updated June 2025)

Tennis shoes are mandatory for all students participating in P.E. or athletic activities.

<u>Shoes</u> must have a back or back strap. For your child's safety, shoes must be appropriate in style for the school day. Shoes must be worn at all times during the school day with socks or footies of a coordinating solid color (navy, black, or white). Shoes with rollers or cleats, moccasins, Crocs, or house shoes, etc. are not permitted. Tall boots cannot be worn with skirts or with pants that are tucked inside the boot. Tennis shoes are recommended and accepted every day.

<u>Hair styles</u> for both boys and girls will be neatly trimmed and kept off the face. Boys shall have hair neatly trimmed above the shirt collar, above the eyebrows, and above the middle of the ear. No spikes, tails, mohawks, unnatural coloring, man-buns for guys, etc. are permitted. No facial hair for secondary boys, (i.e. mustaches, beards, goatees.) Boys must be clean shaven.

For cool weather or classrooms, students can wear the dark, navy sweater, vest, or cardigan (specified on Flynn O'Hara's website). Additionally, students can wear an official NCA dark navy or white hoodie (obtained through NCA's Booster Club). These may be worn any day of the week. No other colors are allowed and no t-shirts or other type of clothing may be worn over the uniform. Jackets or hoodies representing school sports teams or organizations may be permitted at the discretion of the administration. All outerwear is acceptable to wear outside and to/from school. However, outerwear must be removed once inside the building/classroom. (Updated July 2025)

Out of uniform days will be scheduled at the administration's discretion. Clothing must be appropriate, and the administration will make final decisions regarding appropriateness. Parents will be notified of inappropriate dress. The following are never appropriate: spaghetti strap tops, midriff tops, shirts or dresses exposing shoulders, clothing made of sheer material, biking shorts, short shorts, athletic shorts/pants *(unless specifically permitted by administration for certain events)*, or clothing promoting alcohol, tobacco products, or obscene or sexual images/connotations. These standards apply to all NCA activities, including events outside of the regular school day. (Updated July 2025)

<u>Spirit Dress Days</u> will be scheduled on the last day of each week. K-12th students may wear jeans (no holes, no frays, or sagging) or uniform bottoms along with any official NCA t-shirt, NCA athletic jersey, or sweatshirt (no personal custom designs). Students not desiring to take advantage of Spirit Dress may wear the standard uniform as usual.

Seniors only are permitted to wear their **approved Jostens senior athletic wear — sweatshirt and pants only — on Fridays. (Updated July 2025)

<u>High school students</u> may pay \$2 to have a" Free" **Dress** on Fridays. Most "normal" dress is allowed. The following exceptions include:

- Dress not allowed for girls shirts that are sleeveless, see-through tops, one-shoulder or cold-shoulder tops, cropped or hemmed tops, athletic shorts, short shorts, skirts, dresses, jeggings/leggings, yoga pants, tights, jeans with rips/shredded, sweatpants, and athletic pants.
- Dress **not allowed** for **boys** shirts that are sleeveless, muscle shirts, unhemmed tops, snap pants, athletic pants, sweatpants, athletic/basketball type shorts, kilts, jeans with rips/shredded and bathing suit shorts.

Additional Tips Regarding Uniforms & Student Appearance:

- Put your student's name on tags in all accessory/removable clothing to assist in the return of lost items.
- Students are not allowed to wear hats or hoods inside the building.
- Oversized or distracting belts/buckles are not approved in NCA's dress code policy.
- Body piercings, temporary or permanent tattoos, or excessive jewelry will not be permitted.
- Boys are not permitted to wear earrings, plugs or gauges in their ears.
- Girls may wear earrings but no gauges.

Dress Code Violations

Dress code violations will be addressed and corrected immediately. If your child comes to school inappropriately dressed, a staff member will talk to him/her about the correction to make, and the student will need to make immediate corrections. Repeated violations will result in detention, suspension or removal from the academy.

Elementary Students will be considered for a detention on the third written dress code violation.

Secondary Students will be issued a written warning on the first violation. A second offense will result in an automatic detention. Consequences for additional offenses will be at the principal's discretion.

Appendix V - Cell Phone Policy

Effective Immediately – "Away for the Day" (Updated July 2025)

Updated July 2025 - Students are permitted to bring cell phones and smartwatches to school; however, all devices must be turned off and stored in lockers or backpacks during the school day (8:00 a.m. – 3:30 p.m.), including passing periods, lunch, and Lion Time.

High school students are no longer permitted to use their phones during lunch or Lion Time. (Update July 2025) *This change supports our new "Away for the Day" approach to minimize distractions and promote engagement.*

Students are not permitted to wear any type of headphone/earbud device during the school day. Devices will be confiscated if used without permission—this includes passing periods, classrooms, and the lunchroom. The only exception is if headphones are needed for classwork and the student has permission from the teacher.

Cell phones and smart watches will be confiscated if they are visible or turned on during the school day. A school phone is available in the office if a student needs to call a parent. Administration reserves the right to examine the contents of any confiscated device.

Medical exemptions for the use of phones and/or other smart devices will be handled on a case by case basis. Once parents have notified the school about the necessity to have the device(s) available for use, NCA leadership will ensure that the student's teachers are made aware. If that student is found to be misusing the device and not using it in the way it is intended for medical purposes, a meeting with the student and parents will be scheduled by administration.

Cell Phone Violations & Fines

When a cell phone or smart watch is confiscated, a notice will be sent home that day indicating the level of violation. Devices will be released to the student or a parent/guardian at the end of the school day, only after the fine has been paid and the parent or guardian has acknowledged possession with the school. The following fines apply (resets each semester):

- 1st Violation \$15 fine
- 2nd Violation \$25 fine
- 3rd Violation \$50 fine

Students who repeatedly violate the device policy will be required to check in their phone or smartwatch at the front office each morning and retrieve it at the end of the school day.

Appendix VI - Driving Policy

Student Driving Policies

Students 16 years and older who have an authorized driver's licenses will be permitted to drive vehicles on campus provided they meet the following requirements (Any violation of these requirements, or receipt of traffic citations, may result in the loss of driving privilege):

A. Students must provide the NCA administration with:

- 1. Parent's written request for the student to drive to school as well as a signed permission form
- 2. Copies of a valid Texas driver's license
- 3. Evidence of current auto insurance

B. Students must agree to:

- 1. Obey all traffic rules and regulations
- 2. Park in the designated area only
- 3. Drive at a speed of no more than 10 mph on school property
- 4. Return to the car only when leaving school for the day
- 5. Transport only members of his/her family to and from school unless permission has been submitted to the office by the parents of all students involved
- 6. Avoid any loitering around, on or in the car (or any other car) at any time while on school property

Students must leave cars immediately upon arrival in the morning. No student may return to their car during the day without permission. Students who create disturbances, drive carelessly, or violate rules regarding vehicles on campus may lose the right to bring a vehicle on campus.

School authorities may perform periodic patrols of student parking lots and conduct exterior inspections of student automobiles on school property. Interior searches of student vehicles can occur to determine if contraband or illegal materials are contained inside. Refusal to allow school authorities access to a vehicle during a search may result in the loss of parking privileges on school property, and this decision will be final without the opportunity for further appeal or hearing.

Eligible driving students may sign themselves out for an appointment/go home sick, etc, once a parent/guardian has called the school office to grant permission for the student to leave campus.

Appendix VII - Harassment Policy

These rules apply 7 days a week, 24 hours a day, on campus and off campus.

The School will not permit, tolerate, or condone harassment against any individual for any reason, including, but not limited to, harassment on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, age, disability, or any other status as protected by applicable law. Comments, conduct, or innuendoes that might be perceived by others as offensive or harassing are wholly inappropriate and are to be strictly avoided. This policy applies to employees, students, parents, vendors, and visitors to the campus.

Harassment can include, but is not limited to, the following actions:

- Inappropriate communication involves any language which is unnecessarily loud or degrades or berates others, including, but not limited to, racial, religious, or comments/jokes that are sexual in nature or related to body parts, or threats of any kind, whether communicated verbally or in writing. This includes electronic devices and the internet. (Example Facebook, text messaging, Snapchat, etc.)
- **Physical abuse** includes, but is not limited to, touching, hitting, kicking, or threatening another person, including restraining by force or blocking the path of another.
- Interference or hostile environment includes any behavior or actions which interferes with a person's ability to perform their duties and responsibilities, or which results in or creates a hostile or intimidating environment.
- **Sexual harassment** includes, but is not limited to, unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual acts or favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature.
- Retaliation This includes any adverse action or threat of adverse action taken or made because a person has exercised or attempted to exercise any rights under applicable laws or the policies of the School. Retaliation includes, but is not limited to, threats.

Any individual who feels that he/she has been subjected to any type or degree of harassment is to report the incident verbally or in writing to his/her teacher or administrator/principal immediately.

Appendix VIII - Extracurricular Fees

Fees must be paid in full before uniforms are distributed. Once formal competition begins, no refunds will be issued for any team. (Updated June 2025)

Fall Sports	<u>Fees</u>
Volleyball	
High School	\$250
Middle School	\$175
Football	
High School	\$400
Middle School	\$300
Cross Country	
JV and Varsity	\$250
Winter Sports	<u>Fees</u>
Basketball	
High School Girls/JV	\$250
High School Boys/JV	\$250
Middle School Boys	\$175
Middle School Girls	\$175
Spring Sports	<u>Fees</u>
Baseball	
High School Boys	\$250
Middle School Boys	\$175
Fastpitch Softball	
High School Girls	\$250
Middle School Girls	\$175
Track	
Varsity	\$250
Middle School	\$175
Summer Sports	Fees
Sand volleyball	\$150
6 on 6 Flag Football Fee TBD	
Cheerleading	Fees
Camp	\$325
Varsity Cheer Fee	\$175
JV/Varsity Uniform	\$275 (some misc. items-TBA)
Middle School Cheer Fee	\$175 (some misc. items-TBA)
	\$60 Each Month
Stunting/Tumbling Fee	500 Each Mohth
Fishing Team	\$180
Clay Shooting	TBD
/	

Appendix IX - Management of Communicable Disease Policy

A. We recognize the following as symptoms of a communicable disease and the student must be symptom free for **24 hours** before returning to school:

- 1. Fever of 100 degrees or over
- 2. Skin rash
- 3. Diarrhea or vomiting
- 4. Evidence of lice, worms

Care should also be exercised in cases of sore or swollen joints, nausea, coughs, chills, inflamed eyes, flushed face, earache, sore throat, or enlarged glands.

B. If a parent recognizes any of the above mentioned symptoms at home, we ask that a physician check the student and other arrangements be made for their care. (Student may NOT be brought to school)

C. In the event that any of these symptoms are evident when the child is brought in, he/she will not be admitted to the classroom.

D. In the event that any of the above symptoms develop during the day, the parent or designated person shall be called and informed to make arrangements for pick-up of the child as quickly as possible.

E. If a child is dismissed due to a communicable disease, he/she will be re-admitted according to the guidelines indicated on the communicable disease chart which reads as follows:

- 1. Chicken pox (lesions are dry, lesions not blister like and 24 hours has passed with no new formation of lesions.) For more information, call the school nurse.
- 2. Strep Throat (exclusion from school until 24 hours after treatment begins).
- 3. Impetigo (exclusion from school until adequately treated and sores are no longer draining).
- 4. Lice No nits or live lice in hair student will be sent home immediately if found.
- 5. COVID 19- fever free 24 hours without fever reducing medications.
- 6. Influenza-fever free 24 hours without fever reducing medications.

Note: All children should be picked up at the NCA security desk.

Appendix X - Field Trip Policy

Field Trips are the regular part of Nazarene Christian Academy academic curriculum. The following guidelines apply. All parents give permission for their children to attend field trips in the Statement of Cooperation during the admissions process.

- A. Field trips are carefully planned by school officials and serve to enhance the student's educational experience. They are considered part of the academic curriculum. To promote academic focus, no field trips will be planned during the months of December and May. If there are two or more classes in the same grade they will all go on the same field trip.
- B. Field trips scheduled Monday through Friday are considered part of a required school day. If for any reason a student is unable to participate in a field trip, make-up work may be required in the form of a written report on a related subject under the direction of the teacher. **Siblings of students are not allowed to attend class field trips.**
- C. Field trip travel expenses which include gas mileage and driver fees are covered in tuition. Ticket costs and meals are not covered. Specific information will be sent home for each planned field trip.
- D. Field trips are part of the school day and a student must be in attendance for the entire school day. (8:00-3:00 for elementary; 8:00-3:30 for secondary). If a field trip ends before the school dismissal time, the student must return to the classroom or be marked as unexcused.
- E. Anyone wishing to attend their child's field trip must notify the teacher in advance. You may be contacted to complete additional items in order to attend.

Field Trip Approval Statement

Nazarene Christian Academy has permission for my child to take part in all school activities, including field trips, sports activities, and school-sponsored trips away from the school premises. It is agreed to hold the school and its agents harmless for any liability to my child or any guardian or parent thereof because of any claims on behalf of my child against the school or any agent thereof because of any injury or alleged injury to my child.

Should legal action, for any reason, be taken against Nazarene Christian Academy or any employee or agent thereof, on my child's behalf and the school or its agent not be found at fault, I agree to pay any attorney fees, court fees, damages or other costs that NCA or its agent should incur to defend itself against such action.

This Field Trip Approval will be in effect for as long as my children (or others to be enrolled) attend NCA, whether it is in the kindergarten, elementary, or secondary school.

Appendix XI - Homework Guidelines

Homework serves an important purpose in your child's school life. It is a means of reviewing and reinforcing the lessons taught in school. Homework is also a way to help your child develop work and study habits that will assist him/her throughout the years in school and for their entire lives.

You can help your child develop some routines that will be of assistance in successfully completing homework assignments. The following suggestions are offered:

- A. Ask your child if he/she has homework that day. Be aware that homework, reading, or music practice is generally assigned every day. By asking your child about homework, you are helping him/her to remember that there is an assignment to be completed. (K –4th grades have personal assignment books provided by NCA)
- B. Become interested in your child's homework. Ask him/her to show you the completed homework and to explain what was learned. Sharing your child's work with them reinforces the importance of homework and also keeps you informed about the progress of your child and the way in which he/she is able to complete the work assigned.
- C. Help your child set a regular homework time each day and remain with the commitment. Free your child of other responsibilities at that time.
- D. Provide your child with a quiet place to work and study. A place where he/she will not be disturbed.
- E. If your child utilizes and budgets his/her school time properly, burdensome homework assignments will not be necessary.
- F. Please contact your child's teacher if there are any questions concerning assignments.

Appendix XII - School Parties Policy

School parties are an important part of the learning and community environment at NCA.

- A. Elementary grades are allowed **five** parties per year, which will be a Thanksgiving party, a Christmas party, a Valentine's party, an Easter party, and an end of school party. Elementary activities are self-funded by participants.
- B. Parties will last no more than one hour each. Every elementary grade level will have its party on the same date and time, to be decided on by the teachers and principal. All parties will be held during the week before the holiday. Parties are not to cause financial burden to families.
 - a. For Secondary: Parents may bring their child a lunch as a treat. Occasionally, families enjoy bringing a dessert type of snack to their child's grade level. Please be sure and check with your child's sponsor teacher so that you bring enough for all of the students in the grade level.
 - **b.** For Elementary: Families wishing to bring birthday goodies should drop them off at the security desk to be delivered to the classroom. Birthday treats are distributed in the classroom by the teacher at a convenient time between 2:00 and 3:00 pm. Please do not bring drinks that are colored into the classroom. Spills are extremely hard to get out of the carpet.
- C. Although special occasions, birthdays and class parties are welcome, NCA also wants to encourage regular healthy eating habits. Sweets and sugary treats should be kept to a minimum.
- D. Invitations for personal parties are to be distributed by way of the U.S. Mail **unless every child** in the classroom has been invited.
- E. Secondary grades will have two parties per year, Christmas and End-of-Year, and any extra activities offered to middle and high school students will be self funded by participants.

Appendix XIII - Drug and Alcohol Policy

Nazarene Christian Academy reserves the right to conduct random drug testing of all high school students.

Objectives

- Educate students from Biblical perspective regarding the harm caused by the use of illegal and performance-enhancing drugs or alcohol.
- Prevent injury, illness, and harm resulting from the use of illegal and performance-enhancing drugs or alcohol
- Help enforce a drug-free educational environment
- Deter student use of illegal and performance-enhancing drugs or alcohol
- Give students a valid reason to resist peer pressure to use illegal drugs or alcohol

Random Drug Testing Policy Procedures

Student Selection

The NCA administration determines at its sole discretion when a drug test may be appropriate under the following guidelines:

- An entire athletic team may be tested at any given time within the athletic season.
- A random sampling of up to two male and/or two female students may be tested on a regular ongoing basis.
- Any student suspected of using illegal drugs may be requested to undergo specific drug testing for any or all illegal drugs. Parents will always be contacted in such cases. (Parents are not contacted prior to routine random drug testing.)
- A parent may request a test for their own student at any time.

In all scenarios above, student dignity and privacy will be held at a premium.

Consequences

Whenever a student's test result indicates the presence of illegal drugs, performance-enhancing drugs, or alcohol (i.e., "positive test") the following procedures shall be followed:

- If the results are verified as positive, the students, parents and NCA Administration will move to a corrective plan.
- If the results from the lab are negative, the student and parent will be notified, no further action will be taken.

Should the student take and pass the specific test, all costs will be paid by the school. Should the student fail either the random or special drug test and the student or parents question the results, they may request another test at a specified medical facility designated by the school at the parent's expense. Under no circumstances will the student be allowed to submit a new sample for re-testing. Any student testing positive for drug use may be expelled from NCA and may be referred to legal authorities.

Confidentiality

Drug test results will be confidential and shall be disclosed only to the student, the parents, and designated NCA officials who need the information in order to administer and enforce the drug-testing program. Results shall not be otherwise disclosed except as required by law.

Use of Trained Dogs

NCA has the authority to use specially trained non-aggressive dogs to sniff out and alert officials to the current presence of concealed prohibited items, illicit substances, and alcohol. The objective of this program is to maintain a safe school environment conducive to education and extracurricular activities. Such visits to school shall be unannounced and will be carried out according to school policy.

Students are hereby notified that:

- 1. The areas around student lockers may be sniffed by trained dogs at any time.
- 2. The areas around vehicles parked on school property may be sniffed by trained dogs at any time.
- 3. Classrooms and other common areas may be sniffed by trained dogs at any time when students are not present.
- 4. If contraband of any kind is found, the student possessing the contraband or having control over the locker, automobile, or bag in which the contraband was found may be subject to appropriate disciplinary action in accordance with the student code of conduct and/or student handbook and authorities may be notified.